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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEBRASKA 

__________________________________________
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  ) 

) 
and ) 

) 
THE STATE OF NEBRASKA, ) 

) 
Plaintiffs, ) Civil Action No. 

) 
v. ) 

) 
HENNINGSEN FOODS, INC., )  

) 
Defendant. ) 

__________________________________________) 

COMPLAINT 

The United States of America, by the authority of the Attorney General of the United 

States and through the undersigned attorneys, acting at the request of the Administrator of the 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), and the Attorney General of Nebraska, 

acting at the request of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy (“NDEE”), file this 

Complaint and allege as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a civil action against Defendant Henningsen Foods, Inc. (“HFI”) under

Sections 309(b) and (d) of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (commonly referred to as the 

“Clean Water Act” and hereinafter referred to as the “CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), (d).  

Plaintiffs seek civil penalties and injunctive relief against Defendant for violating Section 307 of 

the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1317, and the Nebraska Environmental Protection Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. 

§ 81-1501 to 81-1532, by causing or contributing to David City’s violations of its National

Pollution Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit, violating the National Pretreatment 
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Standards at 40 C.F.R. Part 403, and violating the requirements of Defendant’s Nebraska 

Pretreatment Program (“NPP”) permit. 

2. Defendant owns and operates an egg-processing plant located at 325 Third Street, 

David City, Nebraska (the “Facility”).  The violations alleged in the complaint occur when 

Defendant’s Facility discharges wastewater into the David City publicly owned treatment works 

(“POTW”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action under 33 U.S.C. 

§ 1319(b) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355. 

4. Venue is proper in the District of Nebraska under 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b) and 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and 1395(a) because it is the judicial district in which the alleged violations 

occurred and where HFI conducts business.   

5. Authority to bring this action is vested in the United States Department of Justice 

under 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(b) and 1366 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 516 and 519. 

6. The United States provided notice of the commencement of this action to the 

State of Nebraska under 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b). 

7. The State of Nebraska has the authority to bring this action at the request of 

NDEE under the Nebraska Environmental Protection Act, Neb. Rev. Stat § 81-1501 to 81-1532. 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff the United States of America is acting at the request of the EPA 

Administrator.  Plaintiff the State of Nebraska is acting at the request of NDEE.  The Nebraska 

Environmental Protection Act gives NDEE the power and duty to act as the state water pollution 

control agency for all purposes of the CWA.  Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-1504(4).  Before July 1, 2019, 
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NDEE was named the Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality (“NDEQ”).  Under 2019 

Neb. Laws LB 302, NDEQ was renamed NDEE effective July 1, 2019.  

9. Defendant HFI is a New York corporation formed in 1962 with a principal office 

address at 14334 Industrial Road, Omaha, Nebraska, 68144.  

10. HFI is a “person” as defined by 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5) and Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-

1502(10). 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

11. The objective of the CWA is to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and 

biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a). 

12. The CWA prohibits the owner or operator of any source that introduces pollutants 

into a POTW from operating that source in violation of any effluent standard or prohibition or 

pretreatment standard promulgated under Section 307 of the Act.  33 U.S.C § 1317(b) & (d).   

13.  “Pollutants” include “chemical wastes, biological materials, . . . and industrial . . . 

waste discharged into water.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(6).   

14. “Water pollution” is “the manmade or man-induced alteration of the chemical, 

physical, biological, or radiological integrity of water.”  Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-1502(20). 

15. Section 307 of the CWA establishes a statutory scheme for sources of pollutants 

that do not directly discharge to navigable waters, but, rather, introduce pollutants into POTWs, 

which in turn may discharge pollutants to navigable waters.  33 U.S.C. § 1317. 

16. Section 502(7) of the CWA defines “navigable waters” as “the waters of the 

United States.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(7).  In turn, "waters of the United States" has been defined to 

include, inter alia, all waters which are currently used, were used in the past, or may be 

susceptible to use in interstate or foreign commerce; and tributaries to such waters.  40 C.F.R. § 
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122.2 (1993) and 85 Fed. Reg. 22250, 22338 (The Navigable Waters Protection Rule: Definition 

of “Waters of the United States,” April 21, 2020). 

17. The Nebraska Environmental Protection Action defines “waters of the state” as 

“all waters within the jurisdiction of this state, including all streams, lakes, ponds, impounding 

reservoirs, marshes, wetlands, watercourses, waterways, wells, springs, irrigation systems, 

drainage systems, and all other bodies or accumulations of water, surface or underground, natural 

or artificial, public or private, situated wholly or partly within or bordering upon the state.”  Neb. 

Rev. Stat. § 81-1502(21). 

18. Section 307(b) of the CWA directs EPA, among other things, to promulgate 

pretreatment standards “to prevent the discharge of any pollutant through treatment works . . . 

which are publicly owned, which pollutant interferes with, passes through, or otherwise is 

incompatible with such works.”  33 U.S.C. § 1317(b).  

19. Under Section 307(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1317(b), EPA promulgated 

National Pretreatment Standards, codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 403.  Neb. Admin. Code Tit. 119, 

Ch. 26 § 010 adopts and incorporates by reference the requirements of 40 C.F.R Part 403. 

20. “National Pretreatment Standard,” “Pretreatment Standard,” and “Standard” mean 

“any regulation containing pollutant discharge limits promulgated by the EPA in accordance 

with section 307(b) and (c) of the Act, which applies to Industrial Users.”  40 C.F.R. § 403.3(l); 

Neb. Admin. Code Tit. 119, Ch. 1 § 072. 

21.  “Pretreatment” means “the reduction of the amount of pollutants, the elimination 

of pollutants, or the alteration of the nature of pollutant properties in wastewater prior to or in 

lieu of discharging or otherwise introducing such pollutants into a POTW.  The reduction or 
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alteration may be obtained by physical, chemical or biological processes, process changes or by 

other means . . . .” 40 C.F.R. § 403.3(s); Neb. Admin. Code Tit. 119, Ch. 1 § 089. 

22. The National Pretreatment Standards establish general and specific prohibitions 

that “apply to each User introducing pollutants into a POTW whether or not the User is subject 

to other National Pretreatment Standards or any national, State, or local Pretreatment 

Requirements.”  40 C.F.R. § 403.5(a)-(b).   

23. Neb. Admin. Code Tit. 119, Ch. 26 § 003 likewise establishes general and 

specific State prohibitions that “apply to each user introducing pollutants into a POTW whether 

or not the user is subject to other national pretreatment standards.”  

24. “User” and “Industrial User” mean “a source of Indirect Discharge.”  40 C.F.R. 

§ 403.3(j); Neb. Admin. Code Tit. 119, Ch. 1 § 054. 

25. “Indirect Discharge” and “Discharge” mean “the introduction of pollutants into a 

POTW from any non-domestic source regulated under section 307(b), (c) or (d) of the Act.”  40 

C.F.R. § 403.3(i).   

26. “Indirect discharger” means “a non-domestic discharger introducing pollutants to 

a publicly owned treatment works.”  Neb. Admin. Code Tit. 119, Ch. 1 § 053. 

27.  “POTW” means “a treatment works as defined by section 212 of the [CWA], 

which is owned by a State or a municipality . . . .”  40 C.F.R. § 403.3(q); Neb. Admin. Code Tit. 

119, Ch. 1 § 093. 

28. Section 212(2)(A) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1292(2)(A), defines “treatment 

works,” to include “any devices and systems used in the storage, treatment, recycling, and 

reclamation of municipal sewage or industrial wastes of a liquid nature.” 
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